Bylaws New York Society for Gastroenterology and Endoscopy

ARTICLE 1 Name

The name of this organization shall be the New York Society for Gastroenterology and Endoscopy.

ARTICLE 2 Mission and Objectives

The Mission of the New York Society for Gastroenterology and Endoscopy is to advance excellence in gastroenterology and gastrointestinal endoscopy, to disseminate related knowledge, and to teach endoscopic skills in an inclusive environment that enhances professional development and optimizes patient care.

The Objectives of the New York Society for Gastroenterology and Endoscopy are to:

- 1. Demonstrate the highest levels of professionalism and ethics.
- 2. Encourage and facilitate the interchange of ideas and individual interactions by creating a member community of collaboration, collegiality, fellowship, inclusion, and diversity.
- 3. Recognize changes in evidence-based medical practice, novel technologies and member needs, and disseminate relevant information and materials to members.
- 4. Develop standards of clinical practice in endoscopy to ensure optimal outcomes of care.
- 5. Inspire innovation and foster research to improve endoscopic technology and techniques of diagnosis and therapy.
- 6. Promote career development for physicians-in-training and practicing gastroenterologists.
- 7. Implement educational and training opportunities.
- 8. Provide a voice for our members, profession, and related specialties.
- 9. Become recognized as a regional, national and international leader in gastroenterology and endoscopy.

ARTICLE 3 Members

Section 1. Members Authorized

There shall be six classes of membership: Active, Senior, Honorary, Trainee, Associate, and Advanced Practice Practitioners. Members and classes of membership shall be established by the Governing Council (the "Council").

1.1 Active Membership

(a) Qualifications

- (i) Authentic medical licensure.
- (ii) Special training and demonstrated skill in gastroenterology, gastrointestinal endoscopy, hepatology, or gastrointestinal surgery.
- (iii)Completion of a Council-approved application form.
- (iv) Sponsorship by one (1) Active member of the Society who has knowledge of the Candidate's character and endoscopic skill and completion of a Council-approved reference form.

Applicants who are unable to obtain a reference from an Active member shall be contacted by the Membership Director, who shall assess the applicant's qualifications for membership and determine whether to serve as the applicant's reference.

(b) Election to Membership

Complete applications and reference forms shall be submitted to the Council at its regularly scheduled meetings. The Council shall be charged with the evaluation of the candidate's qualifications and vote to determine the final disposition of each application.

(c) Maintenance of Membership

Expulsion from membership may be for cause duly presented to and considered by the Council.

Individual Active membership shall be terminated for non-payment of annual dues. Any Active member so terminated shall not be permitted to claim affiliation with the Society or to use the NYSGE logo in any way.

Active membership may be reinstated within three years delinquency in payment of dues after which a new membership application shall be required for reinstatement of membership.

1.2 Senior Membership

Senior Members shall have all the privileges of Active membership but shall not be required to pay dues. After attaining the age of sixty-five years, an Active member may petition the Council to grant Senior Member status, providing their annual dues are not in arrears.

<u>1.3 Honorary Membership</u>

The Council is authorized to confer Honorary Membership in the Society on any physician, scientist, or lay person whom they consider worthy of this recognition because of outstanding contributions to the field of gastrointestinal endoscopy or related fields. Honorary members shall have all the privileges of Active members except for the right to vote and to hold elective office. Honorary members shall not be required to pay dues.

1.4 Trainee Membership

- (a) Qualifications
 - (i) Authentic medical licensure.
 - (ii) Enrollment in a fulltime training program which includes gastroenterology, gastrointestinal endoscopy, hepatology, or gastrointestinal surgery under the supervision of a member of the Society or an instructor whose endoscopic credentials are acceptable to the Council.
 - (i) Completion of a Council-approved application form.
 - (ii) Receipt of a Council-approved reference form submitted by the trainee's supervisor or instructor, attesting to the candidate's fulltime training status.
- (b) Privileges

Trainee members shall have all of the privileges of Active members except the right to vote, hold elective office, or to propose members. Trainee membership shall terminate on December 31 of the year in which the trainee becomes eligible for Active membership or terminates training status.

1.5 Associate Membership

- (a) Qualifications
 - (i) Certified RN, GI Technician or PharmD.
 - (ii) Membership is open to allied health professionals (for example registered nurses and gastroenterology or endoscopy technicians) who are affiliated with a GI, Endoscopy, or multi-specialty institution or practice or who have demonstrated a continued interest in gastroenterology or endoscopy.
 - (iii)Completion of a Council-approved application form.
- (b) Privileges

Associate Members shall have all of the privileges of Active members except the right to vote, hold elective office, or to propose members.

(c) Maintenance of Membership

Expulsion from membership may be for cause duly presented to and considered by the Council.

Individual Associate membership shall be terminated for non-payment of annual dues. Any Associate member so terminated shall not be permitted to claim affiliation with the Society or to use the NYSGE logo in any way.

1.6 Advanced Practice Practitioner (APP) Membership

(a) Qualifications

- (i) Certified Nurse Practitioner (NP) or Physicians Associate (PA).
- (ii) Membership is open to advanced practice providers (for example nurse practitioners, physician associates, and pharmacists) who are affiliated with a GI, Endoscopy, or multispecialty institution or practice or who have demonstrated a continued interest in gastroenterology or endoscopy.
- (iii)Completion of a Council-approved application form.
- (b) Privileges

Advanced Practice Practitioner (APP) members shall have all of the privileges of Active members except the right to vote, hold elective office, or to propose members.

(c) Maintenance of Membership

Expulsion from membership may be for cause duly presented to and considered by the Council.

Individual Advanced Practice Practitioner (APP) membership shall be terminated for nonpayment of annual dues. Any Associate member so terminated shall not be permitted to claim affiliation with the Society or to use the NYSGE logo in any way.

Section 2. Evidence of Membership

Each member shall be issued a membership certificate <u>upon request</u>. Membership and membership certificates are not transferable.

Section 3. Annual Dues

The annual dues shall be such as the meeting of the members may determine upon the advice of the Council.

Section 4. Fellowship in the New York Society for Gastroenterology and Endoscopy

The Council is authorized to create a Fellowship honor for bestowal upon qualified members to acknowledge significant contributions to the Society. The Council shall determine the criteria constituting such significant contributions, and all the processes necessary and relating to the conferring of Fellowship honors.

Section 5. Annual Meetings

A meeting of members entitled to vote shall be held for the election of Council members and the transaction of other business in February of each year on any day in that month as determined by the Council.

Section 6. Special Meetings

Special meetings of the members may be called at any time by the President, the Governing Council or members entitled to cast ten percent of the total number of votes entitled to be cast at such a meeting.

Section 7. Action by Members without a Meeting

Whenever under the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law of New York, the members are required or permitted to take any action by vote, such action may be taken without a meeting on written consent, setting forth the action so taken signed by all the members entitled to vote thereon.

Section 8. Place of Meetings

Meetings of members shall be held at the principal office of the Society or at such other place, within or without the State of New York, as may be fixed by the Council.

Section 9. Notice of Meetings

(a) Written notice shall be given of each meeting of members, shall state the place, date and hour of the meeting and, unless it is an Annual Meeting, shall also indicate that it is being issued by or at the direction of the person or persons calling the meeting. Notice of a Special Meeting shall also state the purpose or purposes for which it is being called.

- (b) A copy of the notice of any meeting shall be given, personally or by first class mail or by email, fax or telephone not less than ten nor more than fifty days before the date of the meeting, or by another class of mail not less than thirty nor more than sixty days before such date, to each member entitled to vote at such meeting. If mailed, such notice is given when deposited in the United States mail, with postage thereon prepaid, directed to the member at the member's address as it appears on the record of members, or if the member shall have filed with the Secretary a written request that notices to the member be mailed to some other address, then directed to the member at such other address.
- (c) Notice of meeting need not be given to any member who submits a signed waiver of notice, in person or by proxy, whether before or after the meeting. The attendance of any member at a meeting in person or by proxy, without protesting prior to the conclusion of the meeting the lack of notice of such meeting, shall constitute a waiver of notice by him.

Section 10. Qualification of Voters

- (a) Every Active member of record of the Society, in good standing, shall be entitled at every meeting of the members to one vote.
- (b) The Council may fix a date as the record date for the purpose of determining the members entitled to vote at any meeting of members or any adjournment thereof, or to express consent to or dissent from any proposal without a meeting. The record date shall not be more than fifty nor less than ten days before the date of the meeting.

Section 11. Quorum and Adjourned Meetings

- (a) One-tenth of the members entitled to cast a majority of the total number of votes entitled to be cast at a meeting of members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business, provided that when a specified item of business is required to be voted on by a class of members, voting as a class, members entitled to cast a majority of the total number of votes by such class shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of such specified items of business. When a quorum is once present to organize a meeting, it is not broken by the subsequent withdrawal of any members.
- (b) Despite the absence of a quorum, the members present may adjourn the meeting to another time and place and it shall not be necessary to give notice of the adjourned meeting if the time and place to which the meeting is adjourned are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. If a quorum is present at the adjourned meeting, any business may be transacted that might have been transacted on the original date of the meeting. If after the adjournment, however, the Council fixes a new record date for determining the members entitled to vote at the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each member then entitled to notice under Section 7 of this Article 3 of the bylaws.

Section 12. Organization

At every meeting of the members the President, or in the absence of the President, a Vice President, or in the absence of such officers, a person selected by the meeting, shall act as Chair of the meeting. The Secretary or, in the absence of the Secretary, any Assistant Secretary, shall act as secretary of the meeting, and in the absence of both the Secretary and any Assistant Secretary, a person selected by the meeting shall act as secretary of the meeting.

Section 13. Voting

- (a) Whenever any corporate action, other than the election of Council members, is to be taken by vote of the members, it shall, except as otherwise required by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation be authorized by a majority of the votes cast at such meeting.
- (b) Council members shall be elected by a majority of the votes cast at a meeting of members, except as otherwise required by law.

Section 14. Proxies

- (a) Every member entitled to vote at a meeting of members or to express consent or dissent without a meeting may authorize another person or persons to act for such member by proxy.
- (b) Every proxy must be signed by the member or the member's attorney-in-fact. No proxy shall be valid after the expiration of eleven months from the date thereof unless otherwise provided in the proxy. Every proxy shall be revocable at the pleasure of the member executing it, except as otherwise provided by law.
- (c) The authority of the holder of a proxy to act shall not be revoked by the incompetence or death of the member who executed the proxy unless, before the authority is exercised, written notice of an adjudication of incompetence or of death is received by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary.

Section 15. Inspectors of Election

- (a) The Governing Council, in advance of any meeting of members, may appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting or any adjournment thereof. If inspectors are not so appointed, the person presiding at a meeting of members may, and on the request of any member entitled to vote thereat shall, appoint one or more inspectors. In case any person appointed fails to appear or act, the vacancy may be filled by appointment made by the Board of Directors in advance of the meeting by the person presiding thereat. Each inspector, before entering upon the discharge of his duties, shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the duties of inspector at such meeting with strict impartiality and according to the best of his ability.
- (b) The inspectors shall determine the number of membership certificates outstanding and the voting power of each, the certificates represented at the meeting, the existence of a quorum, the validity and effect of proxies, and shall receive votes, ballots or consents, hear and determine all challenges and questions arising in connection with the right to vote, count and tabulate all votes, ballots or consents, determine the result, and do such acts as are proper to conduct the election or vote with fairness to all members. On request of the person presiding at the meeting or any member entitled to vote thereat, the inspectors shall make a report in writing of any challenge, question or matter determined by them and execute a certificate of any fact found by them. Any report or certificate made by them shall be prima facie evidence of the facts stated and of the vote as certified by them.

Section 16. List of Members at Meeting

A list or record of members entitled to vote, certified by the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary, shall be produced at any meeting of members upon the request therefor of any member who has given written notice to the corporation that such request will be made at least ten days prior to such meeting. If the right to vote at any meeting is challenged, the inspectors of election, or person presiding thereat shall require such list or record of members to be produced as evidence of the

right of the persons challenged to vote at such meeting, and all persons who appear from such list of record to be members entitled to vote thereat may vote at such meeting.

ARTICLE 4 Governing Council

Section 1. Powers and Duties

Except as otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, the Governing Council (the "Council") shall have the general power to control and manage the affairs and property of the Society and shall have full power to adopt rules and regulations governing the conduct of the Society's affairs and actions of the Council. The Council shall have full authority with respect to the governance and management of the Society; provided, however, that the Council shall be guided at all times by the fundamental and basic purposes of the Society as expressed in the certificate of incorporation, and shall not permit any part of the net earnings or capital of the Society to inure to the benefit of any private individual except as permitted under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and applicable state law.

In addition to the other powers conferred by the law, by the Certificate of Incorporation, and by these Bylaws, the Council has the power to:

- (a) Make all arrangements for the annual business meetings of the members. The Council shall determine the time and place of the annual business meeting and shall authorize the Secretary to make suitable arrangements for physical facilities required for the scientific programs and the annual business meeting.
- (b) Invite anyone not a member to attend the scientific session of any meeting of the members, to contribute papers and to participate in the discussions. Except under unusual circumstances, the scientific assemblies of the organization shall be open to members of the medical profession.
- (c) Conduct the business affairs of the organization and, in particular, to authorize expenditures of the Society's funds. Furthermore, the Council shall be responsible for the records of the Society kept by the Secretary and Treasurer of the organization and shall see that such records are open to the membership on request.

Section 2. Number

The number of Council members constituting the entire Council shall be determined from time to time by resolution of the Council adopted by a majority of the entire Council, but shall not be less than three (3) nor more than twenty (20). As used in these Bylaws, "entire Council" means the number of Council members within such range that were elected as of the most recently held election of Council members (including Council members whose term has not yet expired).

Section 3. Election and Tenure

The Council members shall be elected at the annual meeting of members and each Council member so elected shall hold office until the annual meeting of members next succeeding his or her election and until his or her successor has been elected and qualified or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.

Section 4. Newly Created Council Positions and Vacancies

Newly created Council positions resulting from an increase in the number of Council members and vacancies occurring in the Council for any reason may be filled by a majority of the Council members then in office, and each Council member so chosen shall hold office until the next annual meeting at which the election of Council members is in the regular order of business.

Section 5. Resignation; Removal of Directors

Any Council member may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chair or the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if no time be specified, then on delivery. Any Council member may be removed, with or without cause, at any time by an affirmative vote of a majority of the entire Governing Council.

Section 6. Meetings

The Council shall meet at least two times a year. If matters of importance must be transacted between the meetings, special meetings of the Council shall be held at the demand of the Chair or any two (2) Council members with notice given pursuant to Article 4, Section 8 of these bylaws.

The annual meeting of the Governing Council shall be held at such time and place as shall be designated by the Council. Regular meetings of the Council may be held at such time and place as the Council may from time to time determine.

Section 7. Attendance by Electronic Means

Any one or more members of the Council or any committee thereof may participate in a meeting of the Council or committee by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment, including electronic video screen communication, allowing all persons participating in the meeting to hear each other at the same time and to participate in all matters before the Council. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at a meeting.

Section 8. Notice of Meetings

Notice of the time and place of each regular, special or annual meeting of the Council shall be provided to each Council member by regular mail to an address provided by the Council member for that purpose, by email, by fax, by telephone, or in person, no less than eight (8) days prior to the meeting, provided however that notice of a special meeting to discuss matters requiring prompt attention shall be given to each Council member by email or telephone no less than forty eight (48) hours prior to the meeting. Although not required, a written agenda stating all matters upon which action is proposed to be taken may also be provided, but matters not on the agenda may be acted upon at the meeting except as otherwise required by these Bylaws or applicable law.

Section 9. Waiver of Notice

Notice of a meeting need not be given to any Council member who submits a waiver of notice whether before or after the meeting, or who attends the meeting without protesting, prior thereto or at its commencement, the lack of notice to him. Such waiver of notice may be written or electronic. If written, the waiver must be signed by the Council member signing such waiver or causing his or her signature to be affixed to such waiver by any reasonable means including but not limited to facsimile signature. If electronic, the transmission of the consent must be sent by electronic mail and set forth, or be submitted with, information from which it can reasonably be determined that the transmission was authorized by the Council member.

Section 10. Quorum

At all meetings of the Governing Council, one-half of the members of the Council in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business or any specified item of business for any Council composed of less than 16 members, and forty percent of the members of the Council in office shall constitute a quorum for any Council composed of at least 16 members.

Section 11. Voting

The vote of a majority of the Council members present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Council, except as may otherwise be specifically provided by statute or by the certificate of incorporation. The following acts of the Council require the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the entire Council:

- (a) A purchase, sale, mortgage or lease of real property of the Society if the property constitutes all or substantially all of the assets of the Society;
- (b) A sale, lease, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Society; or
- (c) An alteration to these Bylaws or the Certificate of Incorporation of the Society that would increase the quorum requirement or vote requirement to greater than a majority of the Council present at the time of the vote.

Section 12. Action Without a Meeting

Whenever any action is required or permitted to be taken by the Council or any committee thereof, such action may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Council or the committee consent in writing or electronically to the adoption of a resolution authorizing the action. Consents in writing may be executed by any reasonable means, including facsimile signature. If the consent is written, it must be signed by the Council member. If the consent is electronic (e.g., by email), it must include sufficient information from which it can reasonably be determined that the consent was authorized by the Council member.

Section 13. Compensation

Council members shall not receive any compensation for their service on the Council. The Council may, however, provide by resolution that Council members may be reimbursed upon written request for actual and necessary expenses which they incur in order to fulfill their duties as Council members. Council members may also be paid reasonable compensation for services rendered to the Society in another capacity, provided that such compensation is approved by the Council.

ARTICLE 5 Officers

Section 1. Officers

The officers of the Society shall include a President, a Vice-President, a Secretary, a Treasurer, and a Membership Chair. The Council may also elect or appoint one or more additional officers and agents as it shall from time to time deem advisable. Any such additional officers or agents shall not be deemed members of the Council. The officers of the Society shall be elected annually by the Board at its first meeting following the annual meeting of members.

Section 2. Tenure; Resignation; Removal

Each officer shall hold office for one year or until his or her successor is elected or appointed or until his or her earlier displacement from office by resignation, removal or otherwise. Any officer

may resign by written notice to the Society and may be removed with or without cause by a majority vote of the entire Council. If the office of any officer becomes vacant for any reason, the vacancy may be filled by the Council.

Section 3. Compensation

Officers shall not receive any compensation for their service to the Society. The Council may, however, provide by resolution that officers may be reimbursed upon written request for actual and necessary expenses which they incur in order to fulfill their duties as officers. Furthermore, officers may be paid reasonable compensation for services rendered to the Society in another capacity, provided that such compensation is approved by the Council. Any officer who is not a Council member but is an employee or agent of the Society is authorized to receive a reasonable salary or other reasonable compensation for services rendered to the Society when authorized by a majority of the entire Council. The Society may also reimburse officers for expenses incurred in the performance of their duties as an employee or agent.

Section 4. Authority and Duties

All officers as between themselves and the Society shall have such authority and perform such duties in the management of the Society as may be provided in these bylaws, or, to the extent not so provided, as may be assigned by the Council.

Section 5. President

The President shall represent the Council and the organization. He or she shall act and sign for the same in all matters of importance. He or she shall be responsible for the appointment of the chairperson and members of all standing and temporary committees, as authorized by the Council. Actions of the President as well as those of the other officers shall be limited by the Certificate of Incorporation and these Bylaws.

The President shall preside at all meetings of the Council members and shall exercise general supervision over the affairs of the Society. He or she shall see to it that all resolutions and orders of the Council are carried into effect, and, in connection therewith, he or she shall be authorized to delegate to the other officers of the Society such of his or her powers and duties as President at such times and in such manner as he or she may deem to be advisable. He or she shall be ex officio a member of all standing committees. No employee of the Society may serve as the President.

Section 6. The Vice-President

The Vice-President shall assist the President in the management of the business of the Society and the implementation of resolutions and orders of the Council at such times and in such manner as the President or the Council deem to be advisable. The Vice-President shall in the absence or disability of the President exercise the powers and perform the duties of President, and he or she shall have such other powers and duties as the Council or the President may from time to time prescribe.

Section 7. The Treasurer

The Treasurer shall be responsible for the collection of all dues and shall have the care and custody of the Society's funds and other valuable effects, including securities, and shall keep or cause to be kept full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Society and shall deposit or cause to be deposited all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Society in such depositories as may be designated by the Council. The Treasurer may disburse or cause to be disbursed the funds of the Society as may be ordered by the Council, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the President and the Council, at

meetings or whenever they may require it, an account of all his or her transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Society. He or she shall also submit a statement at each annual meeting of members. The Treasurer shall perform such other duties as generally are incident to the office of Treasurer and as may from time to time be prescribed by the Council or by the President.

Section 8. The Secretary

The Secretary shall act and sign for the Council and the membership in all matters except those specifically assigned to other officers or members of the Council. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Council and shall record or cause to be recorded the minutes of all proceedings taken at such meetings, and maintain or cause to be maintained all documents evidencing corporate actions taken by written consent of the Council, in a book to be kept for that purpose; and he or she shall perform like duties for any committees of the Council when required.

The Secretary shall be responsible for the reporting of the minutes to the membership at the annual meeting. He or she shall prepare a secretary's report, both for the meetings of the Council and for the annual meetings of the Society, and at these times he or she shall report newly admitted members of the Society and those who have ceased to be members. He or she shall also have available a list of the entire membership.

He or she shall be responsible for sending of notices of the meetings of the Society to its members. He or she shall also be responsible for notification of officers and councilors of meetings of the Council. He or she shall see to it that all notices of special meetings of the Council are duly given in accordance with these bylaws or as required by statute; he or she shall be the custodian of the seal of the Corporation, and, when authorized by the Council , he or she shall cause the Corporation seal to be affixed to any document requiring it, and, when so affixed, attested by his or her signature as Secretary; and he or she shall perform such other duties as generally are incident to the office of Secretary and as from time to time may be prescribed by the Council or by the President. He or she shall assume the duties of the Vice-President or the President in the event that these officers are not present or able to carry on with the duties of the organization.

The Secretary shall make available or cause to be made the application and reference forms for membership, shall receive or cause to be received the completed applications and references, as well as other material required of prospective members, and shall send or cause to be sent all of this material to the Membership Chair. Following meetings of the Council he or she shall notify or cause to be notified candidates of their acceptance to the membership, or their rejection as the case may be.

The Secretary shall have custody of the minute book containing the minutes of all meetings of members, and of all other contracts and documents which are not in the custody of the Treasurer of the Society, or in the custody of some other person authorized by the Council to have such custody.

Section 9. Membership Chair

The Membership Chair shall receive Active and Trainee membership applications from the Secretary and present these candidates for membership to the Council at its next meeting. Applicants for Active membership who are lacking one or more references shall be contacted by the Membership Chair to ascertain additional information about their qualifications.

The Membership Chair shall assist the Secretary in preparing a report, both for the meetings of the Council and for the annual meetings of the Society, which shall report newly admitted members of

the Society and those who have ceased to be members. He or she shall also have available a list of the entire membership.

The Membership Chair shall prepare and implement an annual plan for membership recruitment and retention and oversee or cause to be overseen the membership renewal process each year.

Section 10. Executive Director

The Council may engage an individual to serve as the Society's Executive Director. The Executive Director shall be deemed an officer of the Society. The Executive Director shall, under the direction and supervision of the Governing Council, oversee the operations of the Society and shall be responsible for implementing, on a day-to-day basis, the policies of the Council. Between meetings of the Council, the Executive Director shall be under the oversight of the President of the Society and shall report to the President at a frequency, and based upon circumstances, as shall be determined by the President or by mutual agreement of the President and the Executive Director. The Executive Director shall apprise the President as soon as practicable regarding any significant situations which may arise. He or she shall, unless otherwise determined by the Council, attend all meetings of the Governing Council, and report to the Council at each of its meetings.

ARTICLE 6 Committees

Section 1. Powers and Duties

The Board shall have the power to create committees. The various committees appointed by the President, whether standing, special or temporary, shall be responsible to the Council for the affairs entrusted to them. Each committee shall have such authority as the Council shall by resolution provide, except that no committee shall have authority as to the following matters:

- (a) The submission to members of any action requiring members' approval under the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law of New York.
- (b) The filling of vacancies in the Council or any committee.
- (c) The fixing of compensation of the Council members for serving on the Council or on any committee.
- (d) The amendment or repeal of the bylaws, or the adoption of new bylaws.
- (e) The amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Council which, by its terms, shall not be so amendable or repealable.

Section 2. Committees of the Board

The Council may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Council, designate, from among its members such Committees of the Council, each consisting of three or more Council members, as the business of the Society may require, and delegate such authority to such Committees as the Council may deem appropriate. Committees of the Council shall only have such authority to bind the Council as the Council so authorizes, and as further limited by Section 1 of this Article 6.

The Chair of each Committee of the Council shall be selected by the President of the Council, unless otherwise chosen by the Council at the time of the appointment of the members. A majority of the members of each Committee of the Council shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, unless otherwise established pursuant to Committee rules of procedure approved by the Council. Each Committee of the Council shall report to the full Council at the next Council meeting regarding any significant action which it takes or decisions that it makes.

Section 3. Committees of the Society

Committees of the Society may be established by the Council, each of which shall consist of such persons, and shall have such authority, as is provided in the Council resolution establishing the Committee. Committees of the Society shall act in an advisory capacity or shall conduct events or activities of the Society, but shall not have authority to bind the Council. Members of Committees of the Society (who do not need to be Council members) may be appointed by the Council President, or by any other means used to appoint officers of the Society.

ARTICLE 7 Contracts, Checks, Drafts and Bank Accounts

Section 1. Execution of Contracts

The Council may by resolution authorize any officer or agent to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Society, and may impose such restrictions or limitations on the authority as it may in its sole discretion determine are necessary or prudent.

Section 2. Loans

No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Society unless specifically authorized by the Council. No loan may be made to any Council member or officer.

Section 3. Checks, Drafts, etc.

All checks, drafts and other orders for the payment of money out of the funds of the Society, and all notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Society, shall be signed on behalf of the Society in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Council.

Section 4. Deposits

All funds of the Society not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Society in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Council may select.

Section 5. Investments

The funds of the Society may be retained in whole or in part in cash, or may be invested and reinvested from time to time in such property, real, personal or otherwise, including stocks, bonds or other securities as the Council shall determine, in accordance with a Council approved investment policy.

ARTICLE 8 Indemnification

Section 1. Mandatory Indemnification

Unless clearly prohibited by law or Section 3 of this Article 8, the Society shall indemnify any person ("Indemnified Person") made, or threatened to be made, a party in any action or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or otherwise, including any action by or in the right of the Society, by reason of the fact that he or she (or his or her testator or intestate), whether before or after adoption of this Section, (a) is or was a Council member or officer of the Society, or (b) in addition is serving or served, in any capacity, at the request of the Society, as a Council member or officer of any other corporation, or any partnership, joint venture, trust, employee

benefit plan or other enterprise. The indemnification shall be against all judgments, fines, penalties, amounts paid in settlement (provided the Society shall have consented to such settlement) and reasonable expenses, including attorneys' fees and costs of investigation, incurred by an Indemnified Person with respect to any such threatened or actual action or proceeding, and any appeal thereof.

Section 2. Discretionary Indemnification

Unless clearly prohibited by law or Section 3 of this Article 8, the Council may approve indemnification as set forth in Section 1 of this Article 8 or advancement of expenses as set forth in Section 3 of this Article 8, to a person (or the testator or intestate of a person) who is or was employed by the Society or who is or was a volunteer for the Society, and who is made, or threatened to be made, a party in any action or proceeding, by reason of the fact of such employment or volunteer activity, including actions undertaken at the request of the Society for any other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust employee benefit plan or other enterprise.

Section 3. Prohibited Indemnification

The Society may not indemnify any person if a judgment or other final adjudication adverse to the Indemnified Person (or to the person whose actions are the basis for the action or proceeding) establishes, or the Council in good faith determines, that such person's acts were committed in bad faith or were the result of active and deliberate dishonesty and were material to the cause of action so adjudicated or that he or she personally gained in fact a financial profit or other advantage to which he or she was not legally entitled. In determining whether and to what extent indemnification is proper, no Council member with a personal interest in the outcome, or who is a party to such actual or threatened action or proceeding concerning which indemnification is sought, shall participate in such determination. If a quorum of disinterested Council members is not obtainable, the Council shall act only after receiving the opinion in writing of independent legal counsel that indemnification is proper in the circumstances under then applicable law and these bylaws.

Section 4. Advancement of Expenses

The Society shall, on request of any Indemnified Person who is or may be entitled to be indemnified by the Society, pay or promptly reimburse the Indemnified Person's reasonably incurred expenses in connection with a threatened or actual action or proceeding prior to its final disposition. However, no such advancement of expenses shall be made unless the Indemnified Person makes a binding, written commitment to repay the Society, with interest, for any amount advanced in connection with a claim for which it is ultimately determined that he or she is not entitled to indemnification.

Section 5. Insurance

The Society may, but is not required to, purchase Directors and Officers' liability insurance if authorized by the Council. To the extent permitted by law, such insurance may insure the Society for any obligation it incurs as a result of this Article 8 or operation of law and it may insure directly the Council members, officers, employees or volunteers of the Society for liabilities against which they are not entitled to indemnification under this Article 8 as well as for liabilities against which they are entitled to be indemnified by the Society.

Section 6. Nonexclusive Rights

The provisions of this Article 8 shall not limit or exclude any other rights to which any person may be entitled under law or contract. The Council is authorized to enter into agreements on behalf of the Society with any Council member, officer, employee or volunteer providing them rights to

indemnification or advancement of expenses in connection with potential indemnification in addition to the provisions therefore in this Article 8, subject in all cases to the limitations of Section 3 of this Article 8.

ARTICLE 9 Conflicts of Interest

Section 1. General

The Council shall adopt a conflict of interest policy, which shall define related party transactions and the circumstances that constitute a conflict of interest, as well as appropriate procedures for disclosure. The Council shall evaluate related party transactions and potential conflicts of interest in accordance with the conflict of interest policy.

ARTICLE 10 Compensation

Section 1. Compensation

It is the policy of the Society to pay no more than reasonable compensation for services rendered to the Society.

Section 2. Approval of Compensation

The independent Directors must approve, in advance, the compensation for Officers and highest compensated employees or independent contractors of the Society, subject to any applicable provisions of the Conflict of Interest policy.

Before approving any compensation arrangement, the Council shall determine that the total compensation to be provided by the Society to the individual is reasonable in amount in light of the position, responsibility and qualification of the individual for the position held, including the result of an evaluation of the individual's prior performance for the Society, if applicable. In making the determination, the Council shall consider total compensation to include the salary and the value of all benefits provided by the Society to the individual in payment for services.

The Council shall document in writing the date and terms of approved compensation arrangements, the decision made by each individual who decided or voted on compensation arrangements, and the basis for its decisions regarding compensation, including the conclusions of the evaluation and the basis for determining that the individual's compensation was reasonable.

ARTICLE 11 General

Section 1. Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the Society shall be fixed by, and may from time to time be changed by, resolution of the Council.

Section 2. Principal Office

The principal office of the Society shall be fixed, and may from time to time be changed, by resolution of the Council.

Section 3. Other Offices

The Society may also have offices at such other places as the Council may from time to time determine or the activities of the Society may require.

Section 4. Writings

Whenever in these bylaws there is reference to a communication in writing, such term shall include email or transmission by other means by which the communication may be recorded and printed or saved.

ARTICLE 12 Amendments

An amendment to a bylaw that may only be amended or repealed by vote of the membership may be proposed by the Council or by written proposal bearing the signatures of at least ten (10) members. The latter must be filed with the Secretary and presented to the Council at its next meeting. All proposed amendments to a bylaw that may only be amended or repealed by vote of the membership, whether emanating from the Council directly or from the members in the form prescribed, shall be published and directed to the attention of all members not less than sixty (60) days before the meeting at which the proposal is to be decided upon.

Amendments to these Bylaws may be made by a majority vote of the members or the Council at any regular or special meeting, provided that notice of the meeting discloses that amendment of the Bylaws will be considered at the meeting, and a written summary of the proposed amendment(s) is included with the notice of meeting. For a meeting of members, notice shall be given as described in Article 3, Section 8 and for a meeting of the Council, notice shall be given as described in Article 4, Section 8.

A bylaw adopted by the members may provide that it may only be amended or repealed by the members, in which case the Council shall have no authority to amend or repeal it. Absent such an express restriction or other legal prohibition, any bylaw adopted by the members may be amended or repealed by the Council. A bylaw adopted by the Council may be amended or repealed by the members unless prohibited by law. Any bylaw adopted, amended, or repealed by the Council shall be set forth in the notice of the next meeting of members, together with a concise statement of the changes made. If any bylaw regulating an impending election of Council members is adopted, amended or repealed by the Council, there shall be set forth in the notice of the next meeting of the members so adopted, amended or repealed by the Council members the bylaws so adopted, amended or repealed, together with a concise statement of the changes made.

A three-fourths vote of the members voting at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be necessary for adoption of an amendment to a bylaw that may only be amended or repealed by the members.

I CERTIFY THAT THE ADOPTION OF THESE BYLAWS WAS APPROVED BY a three-fourths vote of the members voting at the meeting held on the date following, at which time a quorum was present.

Signature

<u>John M. Poneros, MD</u> Printed Name of Secretary

<u>February 2, 2022</u> Date of Adoption